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Council members,

As an item on tomorrow night’s agenda includes housing, | thought it would be prudent for me to
send you a summary of the fair housing laws so that you understand the law’s parameters before
taking any action tomorrow evening. | have also attached a legal comment from the League of
Wisconsin Municipalities that gives an overview of the law.

Summary of FHA:
The Fair Housing Act (“FHA”) is protected under both federal and state law. Under federal and state

law, one cannot discriminate based on race, color, sex, national origin, religion, disability, or family
status. Wisconsin is more broad in that it also prohibits discrimination based on ancestry, marital
status, age, sexual orientation, or lawful source of income. The issue of Fair Housing arises for
municipalities most often in regard to zoning. Some examples of land use and zoning laws or
practices that may violate the FHA include:

Implementing zoning or land use policies or making decisions that treat housing that may be

occupied by protected classes less favorably than housing occupied by other residents

e Blocking group homes for people with disabilities or multifamily or affordable housing in
response to neighbors’ fears or prejudices about persons with disabilities or racial and ethnic
minorities

e  Requiring additional studies or procedural steps or unnecessarily delaying decision making
when considering a dwelling or development that may be occupied by members of the
protected classes

o Refusing to make reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities in land use and

zoning policies and procedures

Even if no personal bias exists on the part of municipal officials, municipal zoning practices or
decisions that reflect acquiescence to community bias or fears about members of protected classes
may be intentionally discriminatory. For example, in the New Berlin case, (see attached complaint),
some of the constituents were racially biased, even though the government officials were not.
However, it was still determined to be an FHA violation. Zoning decisions, while neutral on their
face, that have an adverse impact on a particular minority group or harm to the community
generally by the perpetuation of segregation can demonstrate discriminatory effect.

Another type of discrimination is discrimination against families with children: Some examples
include:
e  Permitting only one bedroom units in multifamily developments in an attempt to limit the
number of children in the school district
e Different use and/or dimensional regulations for age restricted and family housing in the
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Zoning # 454

Congregate Living: Municipal Policies, Practices and the Fair Housing Act

June 30, 2001

Summary - Zoning # 454.

Discusses Fair Housing Act (FHA) and Fair Housing Amendments Act (FHAA) impact on municipal land use policies and practices affecting group homes and community living arrangements and makes some recommendations for improving compliance with FHA and FHAA.

A group home or other form of congregate living arrangement (CLA) is rarely afforded the same status as a traditional single family home in a municipal land use code.

This may be the result of state mandates1 or other reasons. This different treatment disproportionately affects handicapped persons or at-risk children for whom such housing may be the only non-institutional choice. While constitutionally permissible, such treatment is subject to the constraints imposed by the Fair Housing Act (FHA) and the Fair Housing Amendments Act (FHAA). This law and policy intersection is of concern to many local officials. Accordingly, this comment is intended to clarify the limits imposed by the FHA2 on municipal land use policies and practices that affect CLAs. It will explore relevant case law and the judicial response to some typical policies as well as provide some recommendations that may improve local government compliance with the FHA.

I.	THE FAIR HOUSING ACT

The FHA was originally enacted as Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 and prohibited discrimination based on race, color, religion, or national origin. Congress amended the FHA in 1974 to prohibit discrimination based on gender. In 1988, Congress amended the FHA again, extending its protections and prohibiting discrimination based on disability or familial status-the two classifications most commonly implicated by CLA policies and practices.

"HANDICAPPED" UNDER THE FHA

The FHA defines "handicap" as: "(1) a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more of [a] person's major life activities; (2) a record of having such an impairment; or (3) being regarded as having such an impairment."3 While recovering drug addicts and alcoholics are "handicapped" within the meaning of the FHA4 "handicapped" does not include current, illegal use of or addiction to a controlled substance.5 Nor does it include persons who claim to be disabled solely on the basis of having been adjudicated a juvenile delinquent, having a criminal record, or being a sex offender.6

"FAMILIAL STATUS" UNDER THE FHA

The FHA defines "familial status" as: "one or more individuals (who have not attained the age of 18 years) being domiciled with (1) a parent or another person having legal custody of such individual or individuals; or (2) the designee of such parent or other person having such custody, with the written permission of such parent or other person."7 This definition encompasses residents of youth group homes.8 However, where no staff resides with youth group home residents, residents do not qualify for "familial status" protection since they are not "domiciled" with a qualified person.9

FHA EXEMPTIONS

The FHA includes several exemptions that relate to CLAs. As noted above, "handicap" does not include current illegal use of or addiction to a controlled substance. However, this exception should not be invoked to deny a proposed CLA facility where a small percentage of its residents have relapsed since some failure is inevitable in drug and alcohol treatment programs.10

The FHA also does not require "that a dwelling be made available to an individual whose tenancy would constitute a direct threat to the health or safety of other individuals or whose tenancy would result in substantial physical damage to the property of others."11 However, a municipality must be able to provide objective evidence of the behavior that threatens safety; unsubstantiated speculation is insufficient.12 Therefore, in light of the narrow construction afforded the FHA exemptions, municipal officials should be wary of relying on the safety or other exemptions to limit or deny CLA development.

Finally, the FHA does not limit "the applicability of any reasonable local, State, or Federal restrictions regarding the maximum number of occupants permitted to occupy a dwelling."13 This exemption will be discussed in more detail in part II of this comment.

PROHIBITED CONDUCT UNDER FHA

The FHA specifies that it is unlawful to "otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person because of . . . familial status"14 or "otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any buyer or renter because of a handicap of  (A) that person; or (B) a person residing in or intending to reside in that dwelling after it is sold, rented or made available; or (C) any person associated with that person."15 It is also a discriminatory housing practice to refuse "to make reasonable accommodations in rules, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling."16 These provisions provide the basis for three types of discrimination claims under the FHA-disparate treatment (intentional discrimination), disparate impact, or a failure to provide reasonable accommodation.

DISPARATE TREATMENT

Disparate treatment claims come in two forms. Either a particular municipal policy is alleged to be facially discriminatory17 or a decision is alleged to be discriminatory.18

A municipal ordinance that expressly treats members of a protected group differently than others who are similarly situated is sufficient to establish a prima facie claim of disparate treatment.19 Additional evidence of discriminatory animus is not required.20 Moreover, a facially discriminatory policy need not explicitly identify a protected group; language that serves as a proxy for a protected group may be sufficient to find facial discrimination.21 And, evidence of deliberate attempts to sanitize an ordinance will not remove its facial discrimination.22

Once a plaintiff establishes a prima facie claim of disparate treatment by proving the subject ordinance is facially discriminatory, the burden shifts to the municipality to show that it is either (1) a reasonable restriction on the terms or conditions of housing that is justified by a legitimate safety concern for the residents or the community and tailored to particularized concerns of individual residents or (2) a narrowly tailored restriction yielding a housing opportunity benefit that clearly outweighs the burden imposed on the affected group.23 A municipality thus bears a substantial burden to justify a facially discriminatory CLA policy.

A prima facie discriminatory decision claim is established by showing that a "discriminatory purpose was a motivating factor" in the municipality's decision.24 However, proof that a discriminatory purpose was the sole factor is not required.25

A number of factors have been identified for consideration in evaluating a claim of discriminatory decision-making. They include: "(1) the discriminatory impact of the governmental decision; (2) the decision's historical background; (3) the specific sequence of events leading up to the challenged decision; (4) departures from normal procedural sequences; and (5) departures from normal substantive criteria."26 The FHA is therefore violated when the municipal decision is based on a strained interpretation of its zoning ordinance,27 municipal officials bow to political pressure of opponents to a proposed facility,28 or a zoning board of appeals provides no credible justification for an adverse zoning decision.29

If a plaintiff establishes that the municipality's decision was motivated in part by a discriminatory purpose, the municipality must prove that "the same decision would have resulted even had the impermissible purpose not been considered."30 In this context, a municipality will likely find its ability to rebut a discriminatory decision claim constrained by an inadequately developed record.

DISPARATE IMPACT

The FHA does not prohibit only overt or intentional discrimination. A municipality may violate the act through adoption and implementation of neutral CLA policies that disparately impact persons because of their handicap or familial status. Disparate impact claims are analyzed by courts through examination of four factors: (1) how strong is the showing of discriminatory effect; (2) whether there is some evidence of discriminatory intent; (3) what is the defendant's interest in taking the action; and (4) whether the plaintiff seeks to compel the defendant to provide housing or whether the plaintiff merely wants to restrain the defendant from interfering with the efforts of others to actually supply housing.31

A prima facie disparate impact claim "is established by showing that the challenged conduct actually or predictably results in discrimination; in other words that it has a discriminatory effect."32 Although evidence of discriminatory intent is one factor in the analysis, it is the least important,33 and proof of discriminatory intent is not required.34 A municipality may therefore violate the FHA even if its CLA policies are neutral.

If a prima facie disparate impact claim is established, then the burden shifts to the municipality to "demonstrate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for [its] action and that no less discriminatory alternatives are available."35 While proof of a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason may be available in most instances, it is unlikely that a less discriminatory alternative does not exist. Accordingly, once a prima facie disparate impact claim is proved, municipalities will find it difficult to sustain their burden on rebuttal and avoid liability.

REFUSAL TO MAKE REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION

A municipality violates the FHA if it refuses "to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling."36 However, the reasonable accommodation duty is confined to rules, policies, practices, or services "that hurt handicapped people by reason of their handicap, rather than that hurt them solely by what they have in common with other people, such as a limited amount of money to spend on housing."37

"[D]etermining whether a requested accommodation is reasonable requires, among other things, balancing the needs of the parties involved."38 However, the reasonable accommodation requirement "does not entail an obligation to do everything humanly possible to accommodate a disabled person; cost (to the defendant) and benefit (to plaintiff) merit consideration as well."39 Consequently, "[a]n accommodation is unreasonable if it either imposes 'undue financial and administrative burdens' or requires a fundamental alteration in the nature of a program."40

However, every accommodation request will likely create some administrative or financial burden or involve some alteration of a local land use program. The key is whether the burden is "undue" or the alteration "fundamental" for the request to be deemed unreasonable. Accordingly, the administrative and financial burden must be significantly greater than the burden imposed by similar types of development allowed in the community,41 or the program alteration must directly undermine the purposes of the land use regulation rather than simply deviate from it.42

Accommodation requests must also be necessary to afford equal opportunity. Necessity is proved by showing "that the desired accommodation will affirmatively enhance the disabled plaintiff's quality of life by ameliorating effects of the disability."43 This is a virtual given for CLA residents since it has been recognized that congregate living is "essential" for groups of handicapped persons who seek to live together, either for mutual support or to permit full-time care by staff.44 If a reasonable accommodation is not made, then they have been denied an equal opportunity to live in the dwelling of their choice. However, a municipality is not required to grant an accommodation request that would afford the disabled greater opportunity than the non-disabled.45

Finally, it is well established that a party must seek a reasonable accommodation before they may obtain judicial relief pursuant to a reasonable accommodation claim.46 However, a request is not required where it would be "manifestly" futile.47 In addition, it is unlikely that a proponent would have to or should be required to seek relief from an invalid regulation since "[t]he thrust of a reasonable accommodation claim is that a defendant must make an affirmative change in an otherwise valid law or policy."48

II.	THE JUDICIAL RESPONSE TO SPECIFIC POLICIES

The FHA declares, "any law of a State, a political subdivision, or other such jurisdiction that purports to require or permit any action that would be a discriminatory housing practice under this subchapter shall to that extent be invalid."49 Moreover, the majority of courts employ a non-deferential, heightened scrutiny standard when reviewing municipal policies and actions under the FHA.50 It is therefore worthwhile to review the judicial response to some of the more significant municipal policies that affect CLA facilities and the possible consequences of those judicial determinations.

A familiar component of municipal land use codes is a minimum separation or dispersal requirement for CLAs.51 These requirements are typically justified by proponents as necessary to prevent clustering and promote integration. These justifications have however been rejected and minimum separation or dispersal requirements for CLAs have been struck down in a number of jurisdictions.52 Such provisions are therefore of questionable validity under the FHA and relying on them to prohibit development of a CLA facility should be avoided.

Another common municipal land use provision that affects CLA facilities is an occupancy limit for unrelated persons. These limitations are typically incorporated as part of the definition of "family" in the code. Although the FHA does not "limit the applicability of any reasonable restriction regarding the maximum number of occupants permitted to occupy a dwelling,"53 the typical family composition limitation is outside the scope of this exemption since it "removes from the FHA's scope only total occupancy limits, i.e., numerical ceilings that serve to prevent overcrowding in living quarters," not "provisions designed to foster the family character of a neighborhood."54 Consequently, family composition occupancy restrictions are subject to reasonable accommodation requests that include consideration of their impact on the economic viability of the facility.55

Municipal ordinances that impose occupancy limits based on square footage standards are within the FHA maximum occupancy exemption however where they "apply uniformly to all residents of all dwellings" and "were enacted 'to protect the health and safety by preventing dwelling overcrowding,' not to impermissibly limit the family composition of dwellings."56 Moreover, such limitations are not unreasonable simply because they are more restrictive than model occupancy standards developed by a national organization of building officials and code administrators.57 Furthermore, judicial review of a municipality's exercise of discretion in such matters should be limited since such determinations are "a legislative, not a judicial function."58 Accordingly, municipalities should enjoy considerable flexibility in setting occupancy limits, so long as they are reasonable and, being outside the scope of the FHA, should not be subject to reasonable accommodation consideration.

Building code requirements affect the development of all housing choices, including CLA facilities. Nonetheless, a municipality may impose special safety standards for the protection of developmentally disabled persons that are different from those imposed on the general population without violating the FHA "so long as that protection is demonstrated to be warranted by the unique and specific needs and abilities of those handicapped persons."59 Such policies may however require substantial resource investment since FHA compliance would probably require sets of standards individualized to particular disabilities (e.g., one set for the hearing disabled, another for the blind, etc.). Moreover, consideration of the financial impact of such regulations would still be within the scope of a reasonable accommodation request since the economic burden of such requirements would be directly related to a person's handicap status.60

A number of other traditional municipal land use development policies that affect CLA facility development have been challenged in the courts. Public hearing requirements were found to not violate the FHA even though "such a meeting would serve to focus neighborhood scrutiny on the residence. . . ."61 Nor does the FHA permit disabled persons to circumvent zoning variance62 or rezoning63 procedures. The FHA also does not prohibit reasonable permit conditions.64 However, discriminatory.65 unnecessary,66 or impossible67 conditions violate the FHA. Likewise, a one-year moratorium imposed on the development of new adult care facilities violates the FHA when it is based on invidious motives or is not narrowly tailored to address specific concerns.68

The foregoing suggests that the judicial response to municipal policies that affect CLA facilities is generally consistent with the proposition that "the FHA does not provide a blanket waiver of all facially neutral zoning laws and rules, regardless of facts, which would give disabled carte blanche to determine where and how they would live regardless of zoning ordinances to the contrary."69 However, non-neutral land use policies, while not invalid per se under the FHA, will be subject to a careful examination of the proffered justifications and must be justified by more than simple rational basis.

III.	RECOMMENDATIONS

FHA violations can be very expensive for municipalities. Moreover, unlawful policies and practices by cities and villages erode public confidence in local government. There are, however, some actions that municipalities can take to reduce the risk of these negative outcomes.

First, policies and practices that treat protected classes differently than others should be thoroughly reviewed and questioned. Do they address legitimate safety concerns for the residents or community? Does the benefit to the affected group clearly outweigh the burden? Are they narrowly tailored to individual characteristics of the affected residents? If not, then the policy or practice should be modified if possible or eliminated.

Second, all policies and practices should be reviewed and evaluated for their potential impact on protected classes. If the policy or practice imposes a disproportionately negative impact on a protected class, then the existence of less discriminatory methods should be determined. If available, they should be implemented or the policy or practice eliminated.

Third, a reasonable accommodation procedure should be established independently from other traditional land use procedures. The separation from variance or conditional use processes will ensure application of appropriate standards to the request. A specific procedure will also facilitate consistency and fairness in the application of those standards. Moreover, such procedure should promote the development of expertise with the FHA in the official or board designated to decide such requests.

Finally, municipalities should conduct periodic FHA training for its employees and officials. FHA violations flow not only from adoption of particular policies but from their implementation as well. FHA training should not only enhance awareness of FHA issues for municipal employees and officials but also improve their ability to respond to them.

IV.	CONCLUSION

Municipalities enjoy substantial authority to regulate land use development within their borders. However, the FHA is a powerful tool available to the courts and persons protected by those laws for nullifying discriminatory housing policies and practices and compensating its victims. Moreover, the limits imposed by the FHA on municipal CLA policies and practices are still being defined. Effective management of this intersection of law and policy therefore requires not only the attention of municipal officials but also an understanding of these limits.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

MSP REAL ESTATE, INC.,

a Minnesota corporation; and

DEER CREEK HOMES, A WISCONSIN
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a limited
partnership,

Plaintiffs,

VS.
CITY OF NEW BERLIN, Civil Action No. 11-CV-
a Wisconsin municipal corporation; and
JACK F. CHIOVATERQO, individually and in )
his official capacities as the Mayor of the City )
of New Berlin and a member of the Common )
Council and the Plan Commission of the City )
of New Berlin,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

N N N N N

COMPLAINT

The plaintiffs, MSP Real Estate, Inc. (MSP) and Deer Creek Homes, a Wisconsin
Limited Partnership (Deer Creek), by their attorneys named below, for their complaint against
the defendants, the City of New Berlin (New Berlin) and Jack F. Chiovatero, allege as follows:

THE PARTIES

1. The plaintiff MSP is a corporation, duly organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Minnesota, with its principal place of business located in St. Louis Park,

Minnesota.

2. The plaintiff Deer Creek is a limited partnership, with its principal place

of business located in St. Louis Park, Minnesota.
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3. The defendant New Berlin is a Wisconsin municipal corporation, duly

organized as a city under Wis. Stats., ch. 62, and is located in Waukesha County, Wisconsin.

4, Defendant Chiovatero, an adult individual, is the duly elected and acting
mayor of New Berlin and a member of its Common Council and its Plan Commission. He is
sued in his official capacities and in his individual capacity. He is a resident of New Berlin and

of the State of Wisconsin.

JURISDICTION

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under the following statutes:

A. The Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as this action

arises under laws of the United States.

B. The Court has jurisdiction under 42 U.S.C. § 3613(a)(1)(A), as this

action seeks to enforce the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq.

FACTS
Events Preceding or Occurring in Early 2010

6. This action relates to real estate located within the City Center
development, located near 14901 West Library Lane, in New Berlin. The City Center
development plan was adopted by New Berlin on November 8, 1999 and provided for a so-called
“mixed use” of commercial and residential buildings. As part of the development plan, a portion
of the land within the larger City Center development was zoned by New Berlin for high-
medium density multifamily housing. Among the land so zoned was land referred to herein for
convenience as the “Deer Creek City Center Site.”
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7. Deer Creek was the initial developer of the Deer Creek City Center Site.
In 2004 it acquired that land and obtained approvals from New Berlin to construct 118 units of
condominium housing and conceptual approval to construct an additional 34-unit building,
including obtaining certain zoning waivers from New Berlin’s Plan Commission and a zoning
permit to construct its development. Also, in 2005, Deer Creek entered into a development
agreement with New Berlin, which was approved by New Berlin’s Common Council and dealt
with the installation of public infrastructure in connection with the development, including the

construction of streets and the installation of sewer and water pipes in the public right of way.

8. Between 2005 and 2007, Deer Creek constructed the first of several
planned phases of its project, erecting both a building containing 15 condominium units and
associated public infrastructure. Thereafter, Deer Creek experienced severe financial difficulties,
leading ultimately to a foreclosure of its interests in the Deer Creek City Center Site by its
lender, AnchorBank, f.s.b., and conveyance of the unsold portions of the site to an affiliate of
AnchorBank. That affiliate and MSP later entered into an agreement in which MSP agreed to
purchase the undeveloped portions of the site. The undeveloped portions of the Deer Creek City

Center Site are referred to herein for convenience as the “MSP City Center Site.”

9. This action arises generally out of illegal actions taken by the defendants,
the City of New Berlin and its mayor, Jack F. Chiovatero, to prevent MSP from developing and
constructing 80 new multifamily housing units and 100 senior apartments on the MSP City
Center Site. The actions were illegal because the race of prospective tenants of the housing was
a motivating factor in the actions of New Berlin and Mayor Chiovatero, and because their actions

will have a disproportionate impact on the availability of housing within New Berlin to
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minorities, in violation of the federal Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604. They were also illegal
as violations of Title Il of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12131, et seq. (the

ADA).

10. The new multifamily housing units were intended for occupancy by
tenants who have a regular source of income but whose annual household income does not
exceed 60% of Waukesha County’s median income, which, depending on the size of the family,
ranges from approximately $30,000 (for a single person) to approximately $50,000 (for six
persons). The units were intended to be rented at below-market rents for the area, as determined
by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. MSP has been awarded
$24,881,400 in tax credits for these developments by the Wisconsin Housing and Economic
Development Authority (WHEDA), under a program authorized by Congress, 26 U.S.C. § 42,
the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit program. The terms of the award require that these units

be rented at affordable rates for at least 30 years.

11.  After agreeing to acquire the MSP City Center Site, MSP spent over five
months conducting due diligence and exploring the appropriateness of the site for its project,
before making the decision to expend significant funds for such expenses as fees to reserve tax
credits and for engineering, architectural, and legal services for the project. MSP’s development
plan for the MSP City Center Site received support from New Berlin, including from elected
officials, appointed members of the Plan Commission, and the Department of Community
Development (DCD) staff. This support ranged from Mayor Chiovatero’s notifying WHEDA on
April 5, 2010, in writing, that he supported the development to the DCD staff’s working with

MSP in late April to assure that certain Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources permits
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were transferable to MSP. When MSP requested assurance, before making this substantial
financial commitment, Mayor Chiovatero also directly assured MSP that he supported the

development.

12. During the due diligence process, MSP became aware of the serious need
within New Berlin and Waukesha County generally for affordable housing for families with
disabled children. In response to the requests of parents and at the specific urging of New
Berlin’s DCD staff, MSP elected to make 20% of the units handicap accessible. In addition to
redesigning the units to that end, MSP added nine units targeted to the needs of disabled
individuals in families that earn no more that 40% of the area median income, to ensure the

affordability of those units.

13. The mayor’s pledge of support and the general cooperation of New
Berlin’s staff with MSP in its development planning was fully consistent with New Berlin’s
Comprehensive Plan, a long-range plan that Wisconsin’s “Smart Growth” law required all
municipalities in the state to adopt by 2010. New Berlin adopted its 2020 Comprehensive Plan
on December 8, 2009, the first objective of which is to “[p]rovide for a wide choice of housing
types throughout the City serving persons of different income levels, ages, and special needs.”
According to the Comprehensive Plan, 28.5% of all the households currently in New Berlin have

income and benefits (in 2007 inflation-adjusted dollars) of less than $50,000 per year.

14, Under the provisions of the applicable ordinance, in order for MSP to
proceed with the MSP City Center Site development, the Plan Commission had to approve the

use, site plan, and architectural elements of the development and grant what the ordinance refers
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to as “zoning waivers.” In this case, only three such zoning waivers were required, all of which

were of a perfunctory nature:

a. Reducing the length of a parking stall from 19 feet to 18 feet long. (The
Plan Commission had previously granted this same waiver to the previously approved
development at City Center.)

b. Positioning the entrance to the proposed driveway less than 100 feet from
an intersection. (This location was supported and encouraged by both New Berlin’s DCD
staff and its consultant. This one-way driveway was to be used for convenient access for
emergency vehicles and included a covered dropoff area for the senior residents.)

C. Reducing onsite parking from the level required in the ordinance. (This
reduction was supported and encouraged by both New Berlin’s DCD staff and its
consultant, as it met the City Center design guidelines for reduced and shared parking.)

15. New Berlin’s DCD staff recommended that the Plan Commission approve

all the requested waivers, and the commission did so on May 3, 2010, by a vote of 4-3, with

Mayor Chiavatero voting in the majority.

16. Following this approval by the Plan Commission, the only municipal
approvals that were required in order for MSP to complete the development were of such a
nature that they were delegated to the DCD staff and would have been, but for the illegal actions
that occurred thereafter and are complained of herein, worked out between MSP and the DCD
staff as a matter of course. In addition, although a development agreement, likely to have been
substantially similar to the one already in place between Deer Creek and New Berlin with respect

to installing public infrastructure, would have had to be approved by the Common Council, the

Case 2:11-cv-00281-RTR Filed 03/21/11 Page 6 of 19 Document 1





Common Council regularly approves these types of agreements with respect to developments
throughout New Berlin, and approval of such a development agreement would likewise have

followed as a matter of course.

17. Beginning immediately after the time of the Plan Commission approval,
significant and heated public opposition to MSP’s development plan arose. The opposition was
very widely covered in the metropolitan and local papers and in the electronic media. New
Berlin and Mayor Chiovatero were aware that the opposition to MSP’s development plan, though
sometimes publicly articulated as opposition to low-income housing, was at least in part based

on racial hostility to minority group members who might become tenants.

18. This is in part because racial discrimination in housing often takes the
form of opposition to low-income housing, because of the perceived lower socio-economic status
of many minority group members and because of the demographic disparity between Waukesha
County, with a 93.3% white, 4.1% Latino and 1.3% African American population (all figures
from U.S. Census 2010 data) and neighboring Milwaukee County, which has a 60.6% white,
13.3% Latino, and 26.7% African-American population. The population of New Berlin itself is
96.5% white, 2.6% Latino, and only 0.7% African-American. Further, in this case, from the time
in mid- to late-May 2010 when New Berlin and Mayor Chiovatero first took significant actions
to prevent MSP from proceeding with its development, they were aware that public opposition to
the proposed housing was in fact partly based on racial hostility to minority group members who

might become tenants, and they acted to give official effect to that hostility.

19. In particular, Mayor Chiovatero was fully aware that opposition from

members of the public to MSP’s development had a very substantial racial component and was,
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accordingly, unlawful. He was berated and vilified both publicly and privately for having
supported the development. The racial underpinnings of much of the opposition was indicated
by, among other things, a sign left facing his home, calling the mayor a “nigger lover.”
Opponents of the development, knowing that Mayor Chiovatero had been adopted as a child,
even took the step of sending someone to check public records to see if he had any “African-

American blood.”

20. In the face of this determined opposition to MSP’s development, which
Mayor Chiovatero recognized as in part racially based, he decided to give in to the opposition in
order to avoid further harassment and intimidation of himself and his family and to save his
political career. Mayor Chiovatero made a calculated decision to give in to the racially
motivated opposition and to carry their illegal wishes into effect as the action of New Berlin.
Though he had been in the majority of the 4-3 vote of the Plan Commission to grant the waivers,
he filed a motion on May 21, 2010 to reconsider that decision (a motion that only a member of

the Plan Commission who had voted in the majority could make).

21. Mayor Chiovatero sent an email on Tuesday, May 25 to a constituent who

had supported MSP’s development, explaining what he was going to do and why:

I am a prisoner in my own home. | have spent several hours a day
last week listening and replying to concerned citizens. | spent all
weekend doing the same. | went to Pick N Save to pick up a
prescription and | was stopped by several people and it took an
hour and a half to leave the store. | was asked NOT to attend two
functions this weekend for fear it would distract and cause havoc
by my presence. Our City is filled with prejudice and bigoted
people who with very few facts are making this project into
something evil and degrading.
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There are two appeals so far, and reconsideration | have before the
Plan Commission to remove the parking waiver. At this time,
listening to the residents who have been misinformed and formed
an opinion of this project that is [sic]. In Politics, perception is
reality and with that I will not continue my support myself. The
develop [sic] sits in Minnesota, looking at this project and how it
will effect [sic] his assets, and my family is being verbally abused
and harassed. New Berlin is not ready, nor may never be, for a
project like this.

Unfortunately, I will be doing whatever in my power to end this
project, it will result in lawsuits and making New Berlin a
community of bigots.

22. From the time that Mayor Chiovatero announced his switch from
supporting to opposing MSP’s development, the attitude and actions of New Berlin’s staff
changed from support for MSP’s development plan for the MSP City Center Site and
cooperation with MSP in pursuing the plan to acts of passive resistance to and active interference

with the development.

23.  After Mayor Chiovatero announced his opposition to the development and
filed his motion to reconsider the Plan Commission’s approval of the zoning waivers, MSP, in an
effort to mitigate its damages resulting from New Berlin’s disapproval of MSP’s development
plan, and as an alternative to commencing litigation to enforce its rights under the Fair Housing
Act, sought to reach a compromise with New Berlin and Mayor Chiovatero that would allow

MSP to continue with the development.

24. MSP offered to reduce the number of low-income units in the
development. The only response from the mayor and the City Attorney was that the plan would
likely be approved if, instead of any low-income housing, all the units to be constructed would

be designed for occupancy by senior citizens or as market-rate apartments. Such senior housing
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is often viewed as acceptable in predominantly white municipalities like New Berlin because it

does not attract significant numbers of minority tenants.

25.  Atits June 7 meeting, the Plan Commission, despite its awareness of the
illegal character of the action it was taking, reconsidered the approval that it had given to MSP’s
development plan and denied approval of two of the three needed waivers that it had previously

granted.

26. Thereafter, on June 8, New Berlin’s Common Council approved a
moratorium on all new development in the City Center area as a means of preventing MSP from
developing the MSP City Center Site with low-income housing. This action was taken in
furtherance of what the members of the Common Council knew to be the partially racially based
opposition to the development. This moratorium has been continued from time to time and is

currently still in effect.

27. In its continuing effort to reach agreement on an arrangement that would
allow its development to proceed, MSP proposed changes to its site plan on June 18 that would
have obviated the need for the rescinded zoning waivers. MSP’s efforts to meet with the DCD
staff and consultant to discuss the revised plan proved unavailing and, contrary to the staff’s
prior cooperative practice and behavior with MSP and developers generally, the staff refused to
meet with or answer questions from MSP. Ultimately, without discussing it with MSP, the staff
issued a report with a negative recommendation on the revised site plan, eight minutes before the
DCD office closed for the weekend on Friday, July 2, at the same time that the staff sent its
negative recommendation to the Plan Commission. MSP, aware of both the level of hostility

now present in New Berlin to its plans and the likely effect of the staff’s negative
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recommendation, asked to meet with the staff, but the staff would not meet sooner than
Thursday, July 8. MSP then asked to have consideration of its project at the Plan Commission
meeting scheduled for July 12 postponed or tabled, so as to try to work with the DCD staff to

address the issues in the report, but that request was refused.

28.  OnJuly 12, the Plan Commission met to consider MSP’s revised site plan.
MSP was not invited to speak at the meeting or to refute any statements made by the numerous
members of the public who were allowed to speak at the beginning of the meeting. The meeting
took place in an atmosphere of overt hostility to MSP on the part of a large crowd. Members of
the public were permitted to speak, including one who said: “If being against low-income
housing makes me a racist and a bigot, then | guess | am a racist and a bigot.” The crowd
erupted in cheers, and the Plan Commission unanimously denied approval of MSP’s

development.

29. Two days later, in response to a campaign to solicit signatures seeking to
force a recall election to remove Mayor Chiovatero from office for having originally supported
the MSP development, the mayor sent a letter to all households in New Berlin, taking credit for

having blocked it. He wrote:

In 2010, when the Section 42 Workforce housing came to public
attention, it was clear that nearby residents did not want this
project to go forward. In support of the residents, | have since
researched a means to halt the project. | am committed to focusing
on what suitable options are available. The City Staff and | have
found justification for discontinuing the project and will now be
focusing on alternatives.

30.  Thereafter, the recall effort failed to gather sufficient signatures to force an

election to remove the mayor.
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MSP’s Alternative Plan — Late 2010 and Early 2011

31. In a further effort to mitigate its damages and as an alternative to
commencing litigation, MSP continued its efforts to reach a compromise with New Berlin.
Among other things, it decided in the late summer and fall of 2010 to explore an alternative plan

to develop low-income housing on the same site.

32. In 2010, MSP acquired all ownership rights in Deer Creek.

33. New Berlin’s staff repeatedly, including after the June 2010 Plan
Commission vote withdrawing approval of the zoning waivers and after enactment of the
moratorium on development, recognized that MSP, through its control of Deer Creek, had a valid
and existing zoning permit to construct 102 condominium units of housing and could devote
them to low-income housing qualifying for the tax credits that MSP had been awarded and a
valid and existing 2005 development agreement that covered the attendant public infrastructure,
regardless of the moratorium. Consequently, MSP amended its reservations of low-income

housing tax credits so as to construct a 102-unit family project and a 43-unit senior project.

34, By January 2011, at the insistence of New Berlin’s City Attorney, MSP
and New Berlin’s DCD and other staff members had negotiated an amendment to the 2005
development agreement that recognized that agreement’s continuing validity for the purpose of
installing public infrastructure but that made several minor changes to the development
agreement, largely requested by DCD staff for New Berlin’s benefit. This amendment required

approval by the Common Council in order to become effective.
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35.  Atameeting on January 17, 2011, New Berlin’s Board of Public Works,
whose members included Mayor Chiovatero and three alderpersons, unanimously recommended
approval of the amendment to the development agreement, as recommended by DCD and other

New Berlin staff.

36. Nevertheless, by the time of the meeting of the Common Council only a
few days later, on January 25, 2011, the same sort of public opposition to MSP’s alternative
development had arisen, motivated in part by the same unlawful racially based opposition to
low-income housing and having the same disparate impact on the availability of housing within

New Berlin for minorities, as the members of the Common Council were aware.

37.  Although the proposed amendment to the development agreement dealt
only with infrastructure matters relating to such things as the construction of streets and sewers
in the public right of way, the Common Council refused to approve the amendment, by a vote of
5-1, with some votes in opposition coming from alderpersons who, only days earlier, had
approved the amendment as members of the Board of Public Works. One alderperson explained
his changed vote with the comment that MSP could proceed under the “original approved

agreement” from 2005.

New Berlin’s Refusal to Issue Building Permits

38. Beginning in the immediate aftermath of the events of summer 2010 and
the blocking of MSP’s 180-unit development on grounds at least partially racial, Mayor
Chiovatero and the Common Council have set up groups in the different areas of New Berlin,

populated by known opponents of MSP’s efforts to construct low-income housing, to participate
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in so-called “listening sessions” as a cover for rezoning the MSP City Center Site so as to make

it impossible for low-income housing to be constructed there.

39.  Shortly after the Common Council’s refusal on January 25 to approve the
amendment to the development agreement, MSP told New Berlin that it would proceed to
develop low-income housing at the MSP City Center Site as condominiums, under the existing
zoning permit, and construct the attendant public infrastructure in accordance with the original,
unamended 2005 development agreement between New Berlin and Deer Creek. MSP asked

New Berlin to issue appropriate building permits so that it could begin construction.

40. On February 9, 2011 New Berlin’s DCD staff made a proposal to amend
the zoning ordinance applicable to the MSP City Center Site and New Berlin’s 2020
Comprehensive Plan by imposing architectural changes and density requirements that are
intended to and will, if given effect, prevent MSP from constructing any low-income housing at
the MSP City Center Site. This proposal has been put on a fast track for adoption by the

Common Council as early as April 2011.

41. New Berlin’s response to MSP’s request for the issuance of building
permits, embodied in a letter dated February 10, 2011 from the City Attorney, was a series of
arguments, based on facts incorrectly stated and faulty legal conclusions, to the effect that the
2005 development agreement was no longer in force and that construction of the 102 units could
not be commenced. This position is fundamentally inconsistent with the position taken by New
Berlin’s staff—including the City Attorney—in recommending the amendment to that agreement

for approval by the Common Council just a few days previously. Had the staff thought that the
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2005 development agreement was no longer in effect, it would have negotiated a new agreement,

not an amendment to the existing one.

42.  All the actions that the defendants have taken to block MSP’s low-income
housing development at the MSP City Center Site have been the result of conscious,
pusillanimous decisions by Mayor Chiovatero and other New Berlin officials to knuckle under to
opposition to the development that they knew at the time and still know is in substantial part

racially motivated and unlawful.

Need for Injunctive Relief

43.  The terms of the low-income housing tax credits awarded to MSP by
WHEDA require that 10% of the total cost of the development have been expended by mid-
October 2011, which requires that the initial stages of construction have been completed. Other
requirements applicable to MSP’s low-income housing tax credit set a deadline for the
completion of construction of December 31, 2012, making it essential that construction begin no

later than August 2011.

44, Unless the Court grants injunctive relief to permit MSP to begin
construction promptly, the interest of MSP in constructing its development at the MSP City
Center Site, as well as the strong national interest in preventing discrimination in housing on the
basis of race and disability within New Berlin, will be defeated. While an appropriate award of
damages may eventually compensate MSP for its losses, nothing but a prompt injunction from
this Court will insure that this needed housing—thus far blocked by racial opposition that will, if
it continues to prevail, have an illegal disparate impact on minorities and the disabled in New

Berlin—is actually constructed.
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45. If MSP is unable to obtain injunctive relief to permit it to construct its
low-income housing development at the MSP City Center Site, it will suffer damages as a result
of the violations by New Berlin and Mayor Chiovatero. Without either electing a damages
remedy or limiting its damages claims should it become necessary to seek damages relief, MSP
expects that the damages that it would sustain will include lost profits with a present value of no

less than $12,995,996.

46.  All conditions precedent to the plaintiffs’ right to recover herein have been

performed or have otherwise occurred.

FIRST CLAIM: VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING ACT

47.  The plaintiffs repeat, reallege, and incorporate by reference herein, as

though fully set forth, the allegations of paragraphs 1-46, above.

48.  The prospective tenants of the planned MSP City Center Site development
are individuals protected from illegal discrimination in housing under the federal Fair Housing

Act, 42 U.S.C. 88 3601, et seq.

49.  The actions of New Berlin and Mayor Chiovatero constitute illegal

discrimination in housing, in violation of the provisions of the federal Fair Housing Act.

50.  The actions of the defendants complained of herein, violating the federal
Fair Housing Act, will cause injury to the plaintiffs, making the plaintiffs aggrieved persons

under the statute.
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SECOND CLAIM: VIOLATION OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

51.  The plaintiffs repeat, reallege, and incorporate by reference herein, as

though fully set forth, the allegations of paragraphs 1-50, above.

52. MSP’s proposed housing has been designed and intended to fill significant

needs within New Berlin for disabled citizens.

53.  Asignificant number of the prospective tenants of MSP’s proposed
development, because of their affliction with impairments which substantially impact their major
life activities, are “qualified individuals with a disability,” and therefore protected from
discrimination by public entities under Title 11 of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12131, et seq., and under

the Fair Housing Act.

54, New Berlin is a public entity subject to Title Il of the ADA.

55. MSP, by virtue of its intention to construct a significant number of units
affordable and accessible to prospective disabled tenants, is associated with those prospective

disabled tenants.

56.  When New Berlin took its illegal actions to block the MSP City Center
Site low-income housing development, it was aware and intended that its actions would deny

proposed disabled tenants affordable housing to which they are entitled.

57. Upon information and belief, New Berlin’s actions complained of herein

were taken because of the disabled tenants’ disabilities, in that preventing the construction of
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MSP’s proposed housing units will have a disparate and discriminatory impact on disabled

individuals.

58. The actions of New Berlin violating the ADA will cause injury to MSP,

which will suffer that injury because of its association with the prospective disabled tenants.

59.  The actions of the defendants complained of herein constitute illegal

disability discrimination, in violation of Title 1l of the ADA and the Fair Housing Act.

WHEREFORE, the plaintiffs respectfully request the following relief against the
defendants:

1. Preliminary and permanent injunctions requiring New Berlin and Mayor
Chiovatero to recognize that development of the MSP City Center Site has
received all municipal approvals necessary to commence and complete the
development and prohibiting the defendants from further interfering with the

plaintiffs’ prompt completion of the development.

2. To the extent that injunctive relief is unavailable or does not fully prevent the
harm to which the defendants’ illegal actions have subjected the plaintiffs,
compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial, but no less than

$12,995,996, and punitive damages as permitted by law.

3. Their costs and disbursements, including all expenses and reasonable attorneys’
fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 88 1988, 3613(c)(2), and 12133 [incorporating 29

U.S.C. § 794a(b)] and any other applicable law.
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4. Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

s/ Thomas L. Shriner, Jr.
Thomas L. Shriner, Jr.
Wisconsin Bar No. 1015208
G. Michael Halfenger
Wisconsin Bar No. 1024062
Bryan B. House

Wisconsin Bar No. 1022054
Jacob W. Nelson

Wisconsin Bar No. 1070832
Foley & Lardner LLP

777 East Wisconsin Avenue
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-5306
414-271-2400
414-297-4900 (Facsimile)
tshriner@foley.com
mhalfenger@foley.com
bhouse@foley.com
jnelson@foley.com
Attorneys for the Plaintiffs
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same district, for example, permitting senior housing to be six stories high while limiting
other multifamily housing to three stories

The FHA can be enforced by a private party and the federal government. In the New Berlin case,
both the developer and the federal government sued New Berlin . Some other examples of lawsuits
are in the following links.

Penaltles include forfeltures damages, payment of attorney’s fees, and requirement to change City
policies and ordinances.

To avoid a potential lawsuit, City staff and council members should avoid questions or comments
that may demonstrate discriminatory effect on protected classes. Some topics to avoid include
those regarding stereotypes, fears about crime or diminution in property values, the prospective
tenants’ source of income, and how many children will be living in a dwelling unit. Topics to focus on
are the comprehensive plan, the neighborhood plan, and compliance with the City’s Site
Development standards.

If you have any questions, please contact me.

Thanks,

BROCKFIELD

JENNA MERTEN
Brookfield City Attorney
2000 North Calhoun Road
Brookfield, WI 53005-5095
262-787-3634
merten@ci.brookfield.wi.us

The City of Brookfield is subject to Wisconsin Statutes related to public records. Unless otherwise
exempted from the public records law, senders and receivers of City e-mail should presume that the e-
mails are subject to release upon request and are subject to state record retention requirements. If you
are not an intended recipient of this e-mail, please notify the sender immediately.
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